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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA
CHARLESTON DIVISION

CAMICO Mutual Insurance Company,

)
)
Plaintiff, )
) C.A. No. 2:15ev-1823PMD
V. )
) FINDINGS OF FACT AND
Jackson CPA Firrfik/a Jackson and ) CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
Hammond, LLCf/k/a Ja&son and Hill )
LLC; Brent Hill; Frank JacksorDavid )
Brooks Marcia Brooks Jarrod Brooks; )
Zita, Inc; AAA Fence Company of )
Charleston, In¢c.and Mike Dohoney’s )
Barrier Island Construction Specialists, )
Inc., )
)
)
)

Defendants.

This matter is before th@ourtfollowing abench trial. For the reasons stated herein, the
Courtenters judgment for Plaintiff CAMICO Mutual Insurance Company.

BACKGROUND

This is a professional liability insurance coverage dispute between an insurance carrier
the accountants and accounting firm it insured, and several of the firm’s cliehésdispute
relates tahreestatecourt malpractice lawsuitke clients have filed against the accaumts over
the aleged mishandling of their taxes. In this ca8AMICO seeks a judicial declaration tife
extent ofits obligation to defend and indemnify Defendants Jackson CPA Firm, Brent Hill, and
Frank Jackson (the ‘@&ountants”)in those malpractice cases. The Accountants contend
CAMICO has breached one or more of the insurance policies it sold them and that ietas act
bad faith. Defendants David Brooks, Marcia Brooks, Jarrod Brdfiis, Inc., AAA Fence

Company of Charleston, Inc., and Mike Dohonefarrier Island Construction Specialists, Inc.
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(the “Clients”) also seek a declaratory judgment regarding CAMICQO'’s obligations in their
lawsuits.

CAMICO filed this action in April 2015. After the parties contkd discovery and filed
crossmotions for summary judgment,glourt found there were genuine issues of material fact
andthereforedenied the motions. The parties tried the case on August 16 and 17, 2016. Having
considered the evidence admitted aaliras well as the parties’ pteal briefs and postrial
submissions, the Court now makes the following findings of fact and conclusions of law in
accordance with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a).

FINDINGS OF FACT

Based on the preponderance of the evidence in the record, the Court finds as'follows:
l. The Accountants and TheirInsurance Policies

1. For years, certified public accountants Frank Jackson and Brent Hill worked
together in their twamember accounting firm, Jackson and Hill, LLC. Their association ended
with Hill’s retirement in August 2011. Following some additional personnel charagpésod
now practiceslone in Jackson CPA Firm, LLC.

2. Since D05 CAMICO hasinsured the Accountants undeiseries oprofessional
liability,, claimsmadeand-reported policies. The policies have a retroactive date of July 1, 1998.

3. Each policy provides yearof coveragehat begins on January 28 of the year
For examplethe main policy at issue hehas an effective date that runs from January 28,,2011

to January 28, 201@he “20112012 policy”).

1. The Court recognizes that certain of its factual findingddcbe perceived as commenting on the merits of the
Clients’ statecourt malpractice claims. The Court stresses tlegpresses no opinion as to liability or damages i
those cases.



4, Each policys declarations page lists geneal indemnitylimit of $1,000,000 per
claim and $2,000,000 aggregate. An endorsement to each polmyides a separatemit of
$250,0000r defense costs and othdaim expenses.

5. Each policy contains an identical insuring agreement. However peéicki also
has an endorsement titlédimited Coveragefor ‘Known Claims’ Endorsement” thathanges
parts of thansuring agreementi-or examplethe knownclaims endorsement for the 26-2D12
policy deletessection Aof that policy’s insuring agreemerdnd replaces it with an insuring
agreement that provides, in relevant part, as follows:

A. Coverage forDamages and Reporting Requirements

1. The Company will pay those sums thatlasuredbecomes legally
obligated to pay aBamageshecause of &laim arising out of an
Insured’snegligent act, error or omission in rendering or failing to
renderProfessional Servicgserformed after th®etroactive Date
and before the end of tirolicy Period provided that:

(@) The Claim was first made against thesuredand reported
to the Company during the saielicy Period and

(b) The Claim was not reported to any professional liability
insurer, including the Company, prior to the effective date
of thePolicy Periodidentified in the policy’s Declarations.

4. If anyInsuredbecame aware of@laim or aPotential Claimeither
after theRetroactive Datef this Policy or during the twelve (12)
months prior to the Effective Date of th®licy Period whichever
is later, and reports th@laim or Potential Claimto the Company
during thePolicy Period that Claim or Potential Claimshall be
deemed timely reported to the Company duringRbkcy Period
however, the Limits of Liability applicable to sudblaim or
Potential Claimshall be limited to ta amount stated in section |I.
INSURING AGREEMENTS, C. Limits of Liability, Suhimits
and Deductibles, paragraph 1.c.



6. The policies define “@im” asfollows:

ademand received by amgsuredfor money or services, and includes the service

of suit(s), a request that dnsured agree to waive a legal right or sign an

agreement to toll a statute of limitations, or a demand for arbitratiolain

also includes two or mor€laims arising out ofor resulting from a single act,

error or omission in renderingrofessional Servicesor from Multiple Acts

Errors or Omissionsn renderingProfessional Servicesvhether such demands

are made: (1) against one or maémsureds (2) by one or mor®ersms or (3)

during one or mor@olicy Periods

7. The policies definéMultiple Acts, Errors or Omissions” a&ll acts, errors or
omissions in renderingrofessional Servicethat are logically or causally connected by any
common fact(s), circumstances, situation, transaction(s), event(s}e amtvidecision(s). The
policies go on to state thatsingle perclaim coverageimit “applies to aClaim arising from
Multiple Acts Errors or Omissionsregardless of the number of claimants, lawsuit$nsureds
involved.”

8. The policies defineg'Potential Claim” as “an event or circumstances that any
Insuredmight reasonably expect would be the basis fGtaam.” In turn, Insuredincludes Hill,
Jackson, their firm, and its employees.

9. As mentioned above, paragrapi¥ of the knowrclaims endorsement’s insuring
agreement limits the coverage for certain claimstiie ‘amount stated in section I. INSURING
AGREEMENTS, C. Limits of Lidility, Sub-Limits and Deductibles, paragraph 1.c.That
subparagraph, which the endorsement goldsjides as follows:

The maximum amount payable by the Company Bmmagesand Claim

Expensedor each coverelaim reported during thifolicy Periodpursuant to

section I. INSURING AGREEMENTS, ACoverage foDamagesand Reporting

Requirementsparagraph 4., shall be either $100,000 or 25% of theCRe&m

Limit of Liability stated on the Declarations, whichever is less. Amount$ qai

behalf of anlnsured pursuant to this paragraph are chargeable against the
applicable Deductible and the Limits of Liability.



10.  Finally, the knownelaims endorsement eliminates separate defense limits for

claimsthat are afforded coverage under the known-claims endorsement.
[I.  Hill's Declining Health and Work Performance

11. Hill was diagnosed with Parkinson’s disease in 2006. After being diagrosed,
continued to practicaccounting foseveral years

12. Over thoseyears, he symptoms of Parkinson’s disease gradualbrsened
affecting Hill's work. The disease caused Hill to experience tremors, fatigue, and a loss of
concentrationsuch that he became disorganized fxteduentlycould notcomplete much work
in a typical work day.

13.  As thosephysical and mentampedmentsworsened, thewere also exacerbated
by certain stressors, including the demands of caring for his mother as her own hdala dec
and financial difficulties that arose due to his inability to produce billable tirAs. a result,
Hill's ability to work sufferedeven more. Among other things, he could no longer complete his
work in time to either meet his clients’ filing deadlines or seek extensiditis failures to file
resulted in clients being assessed interest and late penalties.

14. By 2010, Hill's conditionsreached, as he put it¢ritical mass.” Due to the
symptoms of his Parkinson’s disease arab#éiexternal stresseron many dayse could barely
accomplish three hours of work over the course of a twhebvg workday. However,he did not
notify clients of his growing inability to work or the consequent tax problems they wéang.fac

15. At Jackson’s suggestion, the firm began delegating sontdillsf work. Staff
accountant Rita Hammond recommended the omtractwith accountanMarty Hicksto help
Hill. Hicks’ primary responsibility was to negotiate with state and federal taxiagdncan

effort to reduce or abate interest and penattiey hadassessed against Hill's clients for Hill's



late filings. Thefirm also hiredanassistant to help Hill with organizati@and to communicate
with clients

16. In February and March 201Hill sent the IRS a series of letters relatindate
penalties it had assessed against several of his clients due to their returns nitnlegirfged.
Each letterncluded the following:

| would like to take responsibility for the failure to file on time and for any &dck

a prompt response to notices regarding the matter. Due to personal
circumstances, | was unable to complete returns for all of my clients by the
extended deadlines, and am just now finding myself able to pay proper attention
to wrapping upmy commitments to some of my clients related to 2009.

On-going adjustments to living with Parkinson’s disease and problems with the
side effects of medications reduced my productivity greatly for most oyéast

Also, | have been the only family member available to see to the care of-my 83
year old mother, and thatleointensified through 2010 as her mental and physical
conditions deteriorated. The last four months of the year have proved to be the
most stressful of my lifeas most of my time and energy was spent seeing her
through seven hospital visits, a move froer home to an assisted living facility,
then to a nursing home, where she spent her final six weeks under hospice care
She passed away Januaf{. 2 With that behind me, and with a recent change in
medcation making the Parkinson’s more tolerable, | am now getting myhheal
and life back in balance and better able to do the job of helping my clients meet
their taxfiling responsibilities in a timely manner.

He concluded at least one of the letters by declaring, under penalty of perjury, that the block
guoted language above was true.

17.  Hill concluded severabf the lettersby askingthe IRS to abatdis clients’late
penalties “due to circumstances beyond taxpayer controht least one other letter, he sought

abatement “due to circumstances beyongager control (and preparer) contrdl.”

2. ltis not clear how many of these letters Hill seetifRS The Clients have assertadthis case thahere is no
evidence that Hill sent such letters in relation to any of them. In state bowdyer, Zita and the Brooks family
have alleged they bele Hill did send the IRSucha letteron their behalf Based on those allegations and the
circumstantial evidence in the record, the Court findskfiiadid send the IRSuchletters on behalf of each of the
Clients that contained the blocjioted laguage above.
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18.  Hill retired in August 2011. He announced his retirement to his clients through a
mass letter he sent on August 22, in which he stédidst Parkinson’s patients reach a point
when they can no longer function effectively in a job that involves a high volumeadhiroe
intensive work. | am past that point.”

19.  When Hill retired in August 2011 Hicks and staff accountant Rita Hammond
took over Hill'sfiles. Hammondjoined with Jackson to form éhfirm Jackson an#lammond,
LLC, which continued contracting with HicksHammondand Hicksthereaftercontinued to
work with tax agencieon behalf of Hill's former clients in an attempt to mitigate the
consequences of missed filing deadlineslammond and Hicks left thec@unting firm in
September 201 2aking with them all the files for Hill's former clientdhey formed their own
firm and performed work for a number of Hill's former clients.

20.  Hill's health has continued to decline since he retired. By the time of trial, Hill’s
memory of his workfor the Clientswas significantly diminished due to his disease. Thus,
through no fault of his own, his testimony carried little weight.

1. The RMTP Claim

21.  Hill's former clients included two related companiBgyal MarinePacking, Inc.
andTransport Partnerdnc. (collectively,"RMTP”). In 2010, Hill's services to RMTP included
preparing and filingspecialfive-yearloss carrybaclelectiors. Hill worked on tlose election
packagesluring the fall of 2010, which was whéis personal struggles reached “critical mass.”

22.  Hill prepared the electiopackagesind submittedhemto the IRS in November
2010. Later that month, however, the IRS rejected the elediiecause Hill'submissions did

not incude a IRS Form 1120, the annual corporate income tax return formaither client.



23.  Upon receipt of the IRS’rejection notice, Hill and others at the firm searched the
office and found RMTP’s 1120 formeachcompletedand signed by an RMTP representative.
It turned out that Hilhad not mailedhemwhen he submitted the electipackages Hill and
Hicks then sent the forsito the IRS By that point, however, th@ibmission was untimelyln
December, the IR&gainrejected thdive-year carrybaclelectiors because it hadot timely
received the.120 forms.

24. At that time, Jackson knew Hill was having problems due to his declining health,
that Hill had made an error on RMTP’s taxes, and that Hicks was communicatmdawi
agenciesn an effort to abate tarest and latdéiling penalties that Hill’s clients had incurred.

25.  Over the next four monthklicks communicated with the IRS in an attempt to get
it to reverse its decision and allow RMTP’s carryback elestioAs Jackson would lateell
CAMICO, Hickswasaskng the IRS change its position “due to [Hill's] Parkinson’s, etc.”

26. In March 2011, a IRS representativeold Hicks that the IRS would allow the
five-year carrybaclelections However, the IRSItimatelyrejected theslectiors for a final time
that June. In September 20RIMTP filed standard tweyear carryback electienwhich the IRS
accepted. According to JacksorHlill's failure to obtain the fivgear carryback elections cost
RMTP $20,600.

27. In September 201RMTP’s manager contacted &aon to make a claim for the
losses sustained due to the failed carryback elections (the “R&¥@iifa”). Jackson then
reported theslaim to CAMICO. Prior to thateport,no one had informed CAMICO about Hill's
errors or thesubsequerdfforts topersuade the IRS to allow the elections.

28. Becausdill and others in the firm were aware of Hilesror andhe IRS’s initial

rejection inlate 2010 but did not report the problero CAMICO until September 2011



CAMICO processedhe RMTPclaim under Paragraph A.4 of the 262012 policy’s insuring
agreementand theknown<laims endorsement’s reduced coverage limit of $1,000,0080.
November2011, CAMICO settled the RMTPI&m for $20,600 leaving $79,400 left on the
limit for that claim.

V. The Clients’ Claims

29. The Client defendants in this case are all former clients of Hilltheir state
court lawsuits, the Clients all allege Hill committed professional negligenbés handling of
their various tax matters.

A. Zita, Inc. and the Brooks Famly

30. Zita, Inc. is a consulting company that Jarrod Brooks, David Brooks, and Marcia
Brooks own. David and Marcia are Jarrodfmarents. From 2004 to 2011, the Brooks family
retained Hill to prepare their and Zitaltcome tax returns.

31.  Hill did not completetheir returns for the years 2003, 2004, 2005, and 2006 until
the endof 2007. By that pointhosereturns werall overdue with both the IRS and the South
CarolinaDepartment of Revenue (“SCDOR?”), resulting in the assessment of interest and late
penalties.

32.  WhenHill completed that set of returnge advised David and Marcia Brooks not
to file theirreturns for2003 to 2005until they had sufficient funds available to pay their tax
liabilities for those years. They followed that advice, which resulted in further penalties being
assessed.

33.  Although retained to do s#lill never preparedita’s or any of the Brook&amily
members’tax returns for the tax years 2008, 2009, and 2010. Rather, Hammond prepared and

filed them in2012. By that point, however, the returns weed past due.



34. The IRS and the SCDOR assessed interest and late penalties Agaiast the
Brooks family membergor the late filing of theireturns for the years spanning 2003 to 2010.

35. In December 201QJarrod Brookgsliscussed #assessmenisnd the late filings
with Hill, who referred Brooks to a tax attorney. Brooks consultathttorney in late 2010r
early 2011 but then insteadsed Hicks to attempt tabatethe interest anghenalties assessed
against him, his parents, and their company.

36. With Hicks’ assistance,he Brooksfamily and Zita esolved their tax issues
regardng years 2003 to 200 the summer 02011by paying significant amounts to the IRS
After Hill retired, they continued working with Hicks. They resolved their tax issues for the
years 2008 to 2010 in 2014.

B. Mike Dohoney’s Barrier Island Construction Specialists, Inc.

37. As its name suggests, Mike Dohonefarrier Island Construction Specialists,
Inc. (“BICS”) is a construction company that Michael Dohoney owksom 2009 to 2011,
Dohoney retained Hill tdhandle all ofBICS’s tax needs, including payroll tax accounting and
reporting.

38.  When Dohoney first retained Hill in late 20@ICS was delinquent in its filing
of payroll taxreturns Dohoney hired Hill to address the delinquenkljll told Dohoney that he
would addresshat problemand also work withBICS's secretary to improve payroll tax
reporting in the future. Thereafter, Halssured Dohoney that he was addressing those past
issues and was working on new payroll tax returns as they arose.

39. The following year, howeveBICS receiveda number ofpastdue notices from

the IRS and fronthe SCDOR. The notices related to reporting periods for which Hill was
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supposd to prepare and file returndBoth agenciesssessethterest and late penalties against
BICS based on #ailure to file returns.

40. In late 2010 or early 2011, Dohoney confronted Hill, who admitted he had
“dropped the ball” orBICS's payroll tax needs and had failed to file returns for the company
Hill mentionedhe had been under stress from his mother’s declining hetdillragain promised
to addres8ICS’s issues. However, he did not do so.

41.  After Dohoney continued to receiymstdue and penalty notices, he spoke with
Jacksonsometimein the first half of 201labout Hill's conduct After Dohoney suggested to
Jackson that he may sifethe issues were not resolvedacksomassigned Dohoney’s fileo
Hicks to help with the IRS audits.

42.  With Hicks’ help, Dohoney was able to mitiga®me of the penalties and interest
assessed due to Hill's omissions. However, by the time this case came up for triakyPahs
still negotiating with the IRS on ot such assessments.

C. AAA Fence Company of Charleston, Inc. and Gordon Ogle

43. AAA Fence Company of Charleston, Inc. is a fencing complaatyGordon Ogle
owns. From 2009 to 201Hill provided accounting service® Ogle and AAA Fencéncluding
personal and corporate income tax reporéing coporatepayrolltax services

44.  After Ogle hired Hill in 20090gle began receivingastdue payroll and income
tax notices In those noticesghe IRS and the SCDOR assessed interest and late penalties against
AAA Fence forfailing tofile returrs. Ogle hadined Hill to prepare and file those returns.

45, Ogle, like Brooks and Dohonegliscussed the notices and assessments with Hill
in 2010. Hill asaured Ogle that hevould take care of the late filings and thssessments

However, he did not do so.
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46.  During their professional relationship, Ogle also granted Hill power of attorney to
deal with the IRS on his behalfThereafter, the IRS directly sent Hill mopastdue notices
relating to additional returns that Hill failed to file for AAA Fence.

47. In 2011, Hicks took over Ogkeand AAA Fence’s files and attempted to mitigate
the IRS’s and the SCDOR’s assessmeifitgks continued those efforts after he and Hammond
formed their own firm. For example, in DecemB8d.2, Hicks wrote the IRS a letter stating that
AAA Fence’s tax problems were caused by Hill, who “suffered from dementia’ewhil
performing work for AAA Fence.

48.  With Hicks’ help Ogle and AAA Fenceesolved their issues by establishing a
payment plan withhe IRS

D. The Clients’ Lawsuits

49. In DecembeR012, Jarrod BrooksalledJackson and informed him that his father
was incurring significant penalties and interest related to Hultisr work and indicated he
needed Jackson’s help fixing that probledacksonreported that call t€AMICO.

50. On January 14, 2013, CAMICO receivecc@py of afaxed letteraddressed to
Jackson from an attornegpresenting the Clients in relation to Hill's accounting workhe
attorney stated the Clients had sustained substantial monetaryftossesll’s negligence.

51. Upon receipt of the letteg CAMICO representative discussed the matter with
Jackson, who explained that Hill haden struggling wittiParkinson’s disease and that in 2010,
it became evident that Hill couldot keep upwith his clients’ work Jacksoralso stateche

believed that Hill's disease causadwasrelated tahe issues referenced in the January 14 letter
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52. In June2013, the Clients, the Accountants, and CAMICO entered into a tolling
agreement as CAMICO investigated tDkents’ claims. CAMICO retained counsel for Hill and
the firm at that time, subject to a reservation of rights.

53. Over the course of the investigation, the Cbkeptovided CAMICO with
information regarding their claims. Included within that information were IRSS&IORtax
notices severabf Hill's abatement letters to the IR&8nd several of his retirement letters

54. In May 2014, CAMICO received a letter frothe Clients’ attorneythat was
addressed tthe Accountantstetainedlawyer. At one point, theClients’ attorney summarized
the growing dispute between the Clients and the Accountants as follows:

While these individuals each has his or her own specific issues, particular scope

of work for which they relied on Mr. Hill, and particular damages, they all share

one thing: the story of how Mr. Hill represented to each of them that he was able
to do the work they believed they hired him to do; how Mr. Hill represented to
each of them that he was in faldging the work they believed they hired him to

do; how Mr. Hill advised them to rely on him and not to worry about certain

deadlines because he was taking care of it; how Mr. Hill never (until very late in

the game) disclosed to them his deterioratingtheand how they were all left

with a substantial tax mess to clean up after he abruptly ceased his accounting

work.

55.  The Clients terminated the tolling agreemeatlyin 2015. Thereafter, theyled
three separate lawsuits South CarolinatatecourtagainstHill (individually) and Jackson and
Hill, LLC. In their lawsuits, the Clients seek damages for lossesatiegye Hill caused

56. The Clients’ amendedomplaints aresimilar, in that they eachllegethat Hill
failed to properlyprepare and he tax returns for certain years due to limitations he was

experiencing as a result of Parkinsodi'seaseand that havrongfully concealedis disease and

the resulting errors he was making on @ents’ tax matters

3. Zita and the Brooks family filed the first SURAA Fence and Ogle filed the second, @&8I€Sfiled the third.
13



57. Each pleading alsalleges Hill and his former firm were negligent in the
following ways:

(1) Failing to prepare and deliver tax returns on a timely basistgifing to

exercise the reasonable care or competence of accountants in communicating

information about availablextensionsthe nature and scope of penalties should

the client not file or not have the funds available to pay the taxes indicated on the

returns; fnd (3) Failing generallyto exercise the degree and standard of care

expected of certified public accoants in acknowledging ancommunicating

honestly regardin¢Hill’s ] personal issues, including issues relating to the care of

his elderly mother and/ateteriorating mental and physical health conditions and

any resulting limitations on his ability to perfn professional services.

58. CAMICO hascontinued to provide a defense to Hill and to Jackson and Hill, LLC
while reserving its right to contest the existence and amount of coverages. It exercised
that right by filing this declaratory judgment actio

59. TheClients’ pleadings and the evidence in the record lead the Court to find that
but for the progressivelylebilitating effects of Hill's diseaseyhich were exacerbateat times
by the stress of caring for and losing his mother, Hill would not hasbandled RMTP’s taxes

or made the errors and omissions for which the Clients are now suing him.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The partis agree that South Carolina law governs their dispute.South Carolina
insurance policieare subjecto the general rules of contract constructibtationwide Mutins.
Co. v. Commercial Bankt79 S.E.2d 524, 52(5.C. 1996). The insurer’s duties under a policy
of insurance are set forth by the terms of the policy and cannot be entargedailedby
judicial construction. Id. Therefore, the Court mugiive clear policy language its plain,
ordinary, and popular meanindgsee id However, viherepolicy provisionsmay be reasonably
interpreted in more than one way, tbeurt must use thenterpretaion most favorable to the

insured. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Barrei30 S.E.2d 132, 136 (S.C. Ct. App. 2000).

14



Declaratory Judgment Issues

The parties raise several issues over the application of the policies to the Clants!
(1) was the RMTP Claim subject &areduced coverage limit? (2) do the Clients’ claims and the
RTMP Claim constitute a single claim? (3) assuming the Accound@htsot timely report any
claims, was CAMICO substantially prejudiced by ttelay? and (4) does Frank Jackson have
coverage as an innocent insured? The Court answers those qussiiatins

A. Amount of Coverage for he RMTP Claim

The Court first addresses whether the RMI&m was subject t@ reduced coverage
limit. BecauseJackson reported the RMTé&aim in September 2011, that claim would be
covered, if at all, under the 2042012 policy. Under @mragraph A.4 of tht policy’s operative
insuring agreementf an insured became awaref a claim or potential claim in the year
preceding January 28, 2011, and repirte CAMICO during the policy periodthenit will be
treated as timely reported CAMICO during the policy periadHowever there will be reduced
coverage for the claim.

The analysis of the first conditierawareness of an actual or potential clatbegins
with the policy’s definition of “Potential Claim”: “an event or circumstances that amgured
might reasonably expect would be the basis faClaim.” The Accountants interpret that
language to mean they must notify CAMICO of their errors only if they reasonablgtekpea
client would make a claimthat is, a demand for money or servieeggainst them. In their
view, they did not have such an expectation until June 2011, when thej&éR®&dhe carryback
request for the final time.

The parties dispute whether the definition of “Potential Claim” focuses on thibdike

that a client will make a claim omstead, on the likelihood that the event or circumstances at
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issue would substantiate a claim. The Court need not resolve that dispute, for thenigbitt] “
leads to the same resulhderboth interpretationsBy the end of 2010Hill and Jacksorknew

Hill had made an error thgopardized ove$20,000in tax savings foHill's clients and that the

IRS had rejectedheir initial attempt to correct his error. At that poititey might reasonably
have expectethat Hill's error wouldresult in RMTP demanding money or services. In other
words, a claim is among the results that a reasonable person in that situatidorexpmdt. At

that time,they might also have reasonably expected that Hill's oversight would give RMTP
grounds to obtairmoney or service from them even if the chances of RMTP actually
demanding such thingeemed remote. Under either viémjght” sets a low threshold that Hill
and Jackson crossed no later than Decer@@20. Thus, because an insured was aware of the
potential claim inthe year preceding January 28, 2011, the first condition of paragraph A.4 is
met.

The Accountants and the Clients place great weight on Hill and Jackson testifiriag at
thatin 2010, they in fact did not think RMTP would make a claim. Their subjective expectations
at that time, however, are not dispositive. Rather, the word “reasonably” in the olefijécts
an objective component into the analysisefore January 28, 2011, might a reasonable person in
Jackson’s or Hill's shoes have thought tHét's error and the IRS’s consequent rejection of the
carryback claim would lead to (or support) a claifg@eFirst Profls Ins. Co. v. Suttqr607 F.
App'x 276, 283 (4th Cir. 2015]stating question of whether something constituted potential
claim, which policy defined a@®n incident which the Insured reasonably believes will result in a
claim for damages,is “measured with respect to an objective, not subjective, stajdblat’|
Home Specialty Ins. Co. v. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh Ra. 6:10cv-826-TMC,

2012 WL 1825370, at *3 (D.S.C. May 18, 2012) (applying a mixed subjective/objective test to

16



policy provision that omitted coverage for wrongful acts committed prior tbeéganing of the
policy’s period that the insured knew or could have reasonably foreseen could lead tg.a claim
As the analysis above indicates, the record in this case compels the Courtdothaswuestion
in the affirmative.

As for the second condition phragraph A.4Jacksorreported the RMTRIlaim during
the 201312012 policy’s operative period. Thus, the 282012 policy treats the RMTP Claim as
a covered, timely reported claim. However, taken in conjunctih other portions of the
known-daims endorsement, paragraph A.4 provides that the $250,000 separate defense limit is
not available for the RTMBlaim and that total defense and indemnity coverage available for the
claim is limitedto the lesser of $100,000 or 25% of the-glaim limit on the declarations page
(here, $1,000,000). Therefore, the 262D12 policy provide $100,000 incoverage for the
RMTP claim. After CAMICO paid RMTP $20,600, $79,400 of that $100,000 lremtained.

B. Interrelatedness of the Claims

As mentioned above, ‘@im” includesa demand received by an insured for money or
services Thatpolicy definition goes ono state that-

[a] Claim also includes two or mor€laims arising out of or resulting from a

single act, error or omission in renderiRgpfessional Seices or from Multiple

Acts, Errors or Omissionsn rendering Professional Serviceswvhether such

demands are madgt) against one or motasureds (2) by one or mor@ersons

or (3) during one or moreolicy Periods
“Multiple Acts, Errors or Omissions” means @&l acts, errors or omissions in rendering
Professional Services that are logically or causally connected by any common, fact(s)
circumstances, situation, transaction(s), event(s), advice or decision(sifICCAcontends that

all of the Clients’ claims are logically or causally connected to one another ane RMMP

claim and thus constitutene claim under the 2042012 policy. The upshot of such a
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conclusion would be that, as part of the RMTP Claim, the Clients’ claims wouid albject to
the partially exhauste100,000 coverage limit That would be so because the 2eA012
policy states that a single pelaim coverage limit “applies to @laim arising fromMultiple
Acts, Errors or Omissions regardless of the number of claingnlawsuits, orinsureds
involved.”

The Accountants and the Clients vigorously dispute CAMICO'’s position. They argue the
Clients’ claimsare in no meaningful way connected to each other or to the RMifR. c

The parties appear to agree there areqdtSCarolina state authorities on point, arel th
Court has not found any. Howeveényeefederatcourt decisions help this Court predict how
South Carolina would treat this policy languadérst, Bryan Brothersy. Continental Casualty
Corp. confirms thatclaims can be related even if they involve distinct acts, affect separate
people, and occur at different timeSee704 F. Supp. 2d 537 (E.D. Va. 2018jf'd, 660 F.3d
827 (4th Cir. 2011). Bryan Brothersstemmed from armnsured embezzling money frotrer
employer’sclientsover multiple years See704 F. Supp. 2d. at 539. In the ensuing insurance
coverage litigation, one of the questions before the district court was wisetremal lawsuits
filed by the defrauded clientsonstituted‘interrelated acts or omissions” under the policy and
thusrelated back to the earliest known potential claiioh. at 542-43 The policy defined that
phrase asdll acts or omissions in the rendering of professional services that arallijogic
causdl connected by any common fact, circumstance, situation, transaction, eveog advi
decision.” Id. at 543 After finding that language unambiguous, the court fothmat even
though the claims involved different victims, they were logically connected by common facts

and circumstances because they all involved the same employee, the same scheme to defraud
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clients, and the same method of embezzleméht. Accordingly, thedistrict court concluded,
theclaims were interrelatedd.

Second, ayear afterBryan Brothers Judge Joseph Anderson issued an in opinion in
Continental Casualty Co. v. Jondso. 3:09ev-1004JFA, 2011 WL 3880963, at & (D.S.C.
Sept. 2, 2011)amended on other grounds on reconsiderat@as stated in2012 WL 530002
(D.S.C. Feb. 17, 2012). Likéryan BrothersJonesinvolved an insured stealing money from his
clients over a period of timeSee2011 WL 3880963, at 4. Judge Anderson had to decide
whether the lawsuits ising out of those claims were interrelated according to policy language
identical tothe provisionat issue irBryan Brothers Id. at *6. Seeing no material distinction
betweenBryan Brothersand the case before him, Judge Anderson found the claims were
interrelated “for the same reason espoused by the district courtBmyan Brothers’ Id.*

Finally, a recent Fourth Circuit opinion illustrates that multiple claims can be logically or
causally connected even if they involdistinct parties and types of aties. SeeW.C.& A.N.
Miller Dev. Co. v. Cont'| CasCo. 814 F.3d 171 (4th Cir. 201&)Miller”). In Miller, the
Fourth Circuitdealt with a policy that containech dexpansive” definition of Interrelated
wrongful acts” that is like the language at issue hemay wrongful acts which are logically or
causally connected by reason of any common fact, circumstance, situation, warnsaetient.”

Id. at 176 The question iMiller was whethetwo lawsuits involvednterrelated acts In the
first case a plaintiff sued for breach of contract amdbtained a judgment against several
defendantsincluding Haymount Limited Partnershipgd. at 174. After thatthe plaintiff sued
those defendants anMliller, a company related to Haymount, fatlegedly engaging in

fraudulent conveyances in order to make the judgment from the first caseeotadnd. I1d.

4. The Courtrecognizes that Judge Anderson later vacated part of his opiSesn.Jone2012 WL 530002, at
*2. However, he did so because he decided there were genuine issuesiaf faatéhat needed to be resolved by
trial. Having conducted a bench trial, the Court does not havessie here.

19



Relying on the abovquoted definition, Miller’'s insurer treated the two lawsuits as a single
claim. Id. at 175. Miller sued to have the lawsuits declared separate claims, but both the district
court and the Fourth Circuit agreed with the insurer that the lawsuits were logicallsiesadlyc
connected.ld. at 175, 178. Although the lawsuits did not have identical sets of defendants and
involved two distinct courses of conduct, the Fourth Circuit found ¢begtituted a single claim
because they shared common facts and circumstalites.177.

Although Bryan Brothersapplied Virginia lawand Miller applied Maryland law, the
opinions nonetheless are instructive. Jones Judge Anderson fourtthe Virginia law used in
Bryan Brothersaligned with South Carolina law.See 2011 WL 3880963 at *6. The
undersigned agrees with that assessménirther the principles of Marylandnsurancelaw
applied inMiller are cornerstones of South Carolina insurance @ampare Nller, 814 F.3d at
176 (recitingrules from Maryland casebat insurance contracts are interpreted just like other
contracts; that undefined terms in policies are generally construed accordiregrtordinary
meaning; that unambiguous language is enforced as written; and that ambiguous language is
construed against the insuresjth, e.g, Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Benjamin81 S.E.2d 137,41
(S.C. 2015) (reciting same rules from South Carolina cag@sally, themultiple-actsdefinition
here bears a strong resemblance to“theerrelated acts or omissions” definitioms Bryan
Brothers Miller, andJones For those reasons, this Coooincludes South Carolina state courts
would find the definition here unambiguous and expansi8ee Episcopal Church in S.C. v.
Church Ins. Co. of Vit53 F. Supp. 3d 816, 821 (D.S.C. 2014) (“If the South Carolina Supreme
Court has not addressed a particular legal issue raised in this case, this Coprediashow
that court would rule if presented with the issue.” (cifiiwgin City Fire Ins. Co. v. Ben Arnaeid

Sunbelt Beverage Co. of S.@33 F.3d 365, 369 (4th Cir. 2005))).
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Under that constructioof the multiple-acts definition, all of the Clients’ claims are
logically connected to one another and to the RMIBHN. They are all based on the acts and
omissions of the same person, whose tragic disease cthassd acts and omissions, either in
whole or in part. To be sure, thosemmectionsdo not share the obviousness of 8teat
concealrepeat schemes Bryan BrothersandJones nor do they form a factual web as strong as
the onein Miller. That does not mean, however, that nothing connectsléimas Rather,
CAMICO’s comprehensivepolicy language links claims that shaexen a singleogically
connectivefact, circumstance, or situatiorHill's diseaseinduced impairmensatisfies that low
threshold because, in this Court’s view of the facts, it played a causal roee@lie¢ht’'s claims
and the RATP claim. Just as the breakdowns of integritydigan BrothersJones andMiller
united all the claims in those cases'Blibreakdown of facty unitesall the claims heré. Thus,
they constitute a single claim.

The 20112012 policystates that a single limit applies for each claim, regardless of the
number of errors and parties involved. Thus, the p@ioyidesa tdal of $100,000 of coverage
for the Clients’ claims, less the $20,600 already paid on the RN&IR and less claim expenses
incurred to defend the Accountants in state court.

C. Substantial Prejudiceto CAMICO

The Accountants and the Cliententendthat even ifthe Accountants were late in
reportingpotential claimgo CAMICO, the companyannot withhold coverageecausdhe late
reporting did not substantially prejude its rights under the policies.Insurance policies
frequently require insureds tprovide the insurer timely notice that a lawsuit or other type of

claim has been made. The purpose of such requirements &llow for investigation of the

5. The Court, of course, does not mean to suggest Hill is to blame for the tiegimstance of having
Parkinson’s disease.
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facts and to assist the insurer in preparing a defensé&.’'Mut. Ins. Co. v. Singletoax rel
Singleton 446 S.E.2d 417, 425(C. 1994)citation omitted) Generally, the insured’s failure to
comply with a notice clauseatitomatically relieves the insurer of its obligations under the
contract, including the payment of proceeds due, and thetdudtgfend and to indemnify the
insured” Wright v. UNUM Life Ins. Cg.No. 2:99¢cv-239423, 2001 WL 34907077, at *2
(D.S.C. Aug. 31, 2001). However, when “the rights of innocent parties are jeopardizedit by
failure to comply the insurercannot denycoverage based on that failumaeless it proves the
failure substantially prejudiced its rights under the politd. Mut. Ins. Co, 446 S.E.2d at 421
(citation omitted).

CAMICO'’s policiesdo containprovisions that requitethe Accountants to reportaims
and potential claimg a timely manner For example, the policies obligated the Accountants to
“[plromptly notify [CAMICOQO] or its authorized representative of ablaim or Potential Claim”
Similar timely-notice provisions in insurance policiesvbagenerated substantiaejudice
litigation in this Courtin recent years See, e.g.Episcopal Church in S.C53 F. Supp. 3at
827-30;Berenyi, Inc. v. Landmark Am. Ins. Cblo. 2:09cv-1556PMD, 2010 WL 233861, at
*6—7 (D.S.C. Jan. 14, 2010)Importantly, howeverthe timely noticeclausein CAMICO'’s
policy is notthe provision thahascausedonly a reduced amount of coveragebe available.
Rather, agliscussed in sectiohA of this Order, that result flowgrimarily from the combined
effect of the insuring agreement’s paragraph A.4 and the poteidial definition. The
language of those provisions differs greafitpm the timelynotice clauses that haveeen
subjeced to substantiaprejudice analysis. The Couguestionswhether SouthCarolina law
would apply the substantigkejudice requirement to those provisions, and it has not found a

clear answer.
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Ultimately, the Court need not answer that questiorthis case Even assuming the
requirement applies, CAMICO has satisfied it here. CAMICO representative MarleyAubr
testified at trialthat CAMICO engages in mitigation efforts to prevent potential cldnms
becoming actual clainor, failing that, to at least nigjate losses Because CAMICO insures
accountants,hibse efforts include negotiating with federal and state tax agencies and appealing
their decisions. CAMICO guarantees policyholders unlimited use of those servid#sth
respect to the RMTPclaim—the chim that triggered the reduced coverage limthe
Accountants did not notify CAMICO of the problem until after the IRS had rejectedaime cl
three times. According to Aubrey, by the time CAMICO learned ofriater the Accountants
had already unsuccdsBy exhaustedhe available abatement avenues; all CAMICO could do
was negotiate a settlement payment WRMTP. That loss of opportunity towestigate Hill's
error and to engage the IRS substantially prejudiced CAMICDFounders Ins. Co. v. Richar
Ruths Bar & Grill LLC, No. 2:13cv-3035DCN, 2016 WL 3189213, at13 (D.S.C. June 8,
2016) (finding insurer was substantially prejudiced by not receiving notice of lawagainst
insured until after default had been entered, as the insurer had lost the opportunitgtigateve
the claim, assert defenses, or negotiate unhandicgpgeal)alsoid. at *12 (discussing South
Carolinacaseghat illustrate substantial prejudice).

The Accountants and the Clients argue CAMICO was not prejudiced because it learned
of the Clients’ claims well before the Clients filed their lawsuatsdit even paitipated in pre
suit investigations of tiseclaims. Their argument stems from the statemekiemmont Mutual
Insurance Cothat the purpose of timely notice clauses is to enable insurance companies to
conduct meaningful investigations of the facts amgrepare defenses for insused a timely

manner SeeVt. Mut. Ins. Co, 446 S.E.2dat 421 That statement, howevamntemplates the
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familiar scenario in which an injured party has formally made a eldypically by filing a
lawsuit—against the insured.The policy provisions at issue here contemplate a different
scenarioan insured’s erromay impacta client’s liability to a taxauthority but there may yet be
opportunities tochange the authority’s decisidrefore the client is meed or asserts a claim.
Consequentlyand as the record indicates, the purpose of those provisionaffertd CAMICO
a meaningful chance to participate in those-gda&m opportunitiesbefore it faces financial
exposure for the error.Although that prpose is similar in spirit to the onmentionedin
Vermont Mutual Insurance Coit is distinct in its focus Thus, the fact that CAMICO had
timely notice of the Clients’ claims is irrelevant to the questiowltgther CAMICO’s preclaim
opportunities to engage with the IRS were substantially prejudiced.

D. The InnocentInsured Provision

As mentioned above, each of the policies at issue contains a provision that cde provi
innocent insureds coverage “[i]f any coverage f&laim would be void, excluded, suspended
or lost as a result of aninsured’s failure to comply with” the policy’sclaim reporting
requirements. Jackson argues that even if Hill and the accounting firm are subijecknown
claims endorsement’s reduced cage, he is entitled to full coveragader that provisiomas an
innocent insured. CAMICO responds that the innodesured provision does not apply because
Jackson faces no potential personal liability in the Clients’ cases and in anyrevéated ©

comply with the provision’s conditions.

6. The Court has also considered whe@&MICO was substantially prejudiced in its opportunitiegntervene
before the Clients’ issues became claims. Although CAMICO did present eviafesioeh prejudie, that question

is not relevant. The Clients’ claims are subject to a sirgglaced coverage limit because they constitute a part of
the RMTP daim under the policy’s expansive multigdets definition. Whether or not they were timadparted to
CAMICO plays no role in that analysis, and the policy’s migiiets definition could not reasonably be construed
as a timely notice provision that would trigger stalmtiatprejudice analysis.
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The Court agrees that the provision does not apply, but its analysis differs somewhat
from that offered by CAMICO. One of the insuring agreement’s conditions precediat is
“the Claimwas . . . made againstelnsured” Here, neither RMTP nor any of the Clients made
a claim, as the policies define that teagainst Jackson as an individudhe claims—demands
for services and money, lawsuits, and toHagyeement demandshave been made only against
the firm and against Hill individually. Consequently, even though Jackson is an insured under
the policies, he has no coverage for any of the claims at issue because they were not made
against him.

Moreover, he innocerdinsured provision takes effect onlyan insured loses coverage
becausef a failure to follow certain claim reporting requirements. As just explathatljs not
the reason that Jackson lacks covera@mnsequently, even assumiagguendothat Jackson
complied with the innocenhsured provision’s coverage conditions, the provision is
inapplicable because the scenario triggering its applicability did not happen taChirBryan
Bros, 704 F. Supp. 2d at 542 (finding innocémgured provision inapplicable because insurer
denied coverage on ground unrelated to the circumstances that triggered provision).

E. Conclusion as to Declaratory Judgment Issues

For the foregoing reasons, the Codetlareghat (1) the Clients’ claims and the RMTP
claim constitute a single claim under the 262012 policy; (2) the 2022012 policyprovides
$100,000 of coverage for indemnity and defense dostihat combined claim, less the $20,600
settlement and defense costghe Clients’ lawsuits(3) assumingSouth Carolina’substantial
prejudice doctrine applies here, CAMICO has proven such prejuaice (4) Jackson does not

have coverage as an innocent insured.
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Il. The Accountants’ Counterclaims

As mentioned above, the Accountants hallegad counterchims against CAMICO for
breach of contract and insurance bad faith. The factual theory of liability tlegg &br both
claims is the sameby contendinghe Clients’ clans are related to the RMTP Claim and its
reduced coverage limiCAMICO is breachig the terms of one or more of the policiemd
violating the implied covenant of good faith and fair deafing.

The Accountantsbreach of contract claim fails. sAexplained above in Part | of this
order, CAMICO'’s position is consistent with the terro§the 20132012 policy. Because the
Accountants cannot establish the essential element of breach, the clainSeEglS. Glass &
Plastics Co. v. Kemperr32 S.E.2d 205, 20%(C.Ct. App. 2012)“T he elements for a breach of
contract are the existence of the contract, its breach, and the damages caused by sutch breach
(citing Fuller v. E. Fire & Cas. Ins. Cpl124 S.E.2d 602, 610 (S.C. 1992

As for insurance badhith, the Accountants frame their claim under the elements for
recovery seforth in Bartlett v. Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Co.

(1) the existence of a mutually binding contract of insurance between thefplainti

and the defendant; (2) a refusal by the insurer to pay benefits due under the

contract; (3) resulting from the insuretsmd faith or unreasonable action in

breach of an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing arising on the
contract; (4) causing damage to the insured.
348 S.E.2d 530, 532 (S.C. Ct. App. 1988)erruled on other grounds by Charleston Cty. Sch.
Dist. v. State Budget & Control Bd437 S.E.2d 6(S.C. 1993) Under that rubric, the

Accountants’ claim fails at the second element. Although CAMICO is not providingeall t

7. The Accountants have not specified which insurance policy or poliegsoelieve CAMICO breached.

8. At trial, the Accountants also asserted, as theoriesdofdith, that CAMICO improperly assigned a single
employee to handle defense and coveragaes and that thasunduly restrictedthe activities of the defense
attorney it retained for themAlthough the Accountants did not include these theories in any pleading, tles par
tried them by implied consenBeeFed. R. Civ. P. 15(b)(2).

26



indemnity and defense coverage that the Accountants seek, it has not refused to pay any benefits
actually due.
The Court will enter judgment for CAMICO on the Accountants’ counterclaims.

CONCLUSION

In sum, based on the foregoif@AMICO is entitledto the judicial declaration provided
in Section I.E of this OrderAdditionally, CAMICO is entitled to judgment in its favor dhe
Accountants’ counterclaim&ach party shall bear its own costs and fees.

Accordingly, it isORDERED that judgment be entered in favor of CAMICO Mutual
Insurance Company.

AND IT IS SO ORDERED.

%%

PATRICK MICHAEL DiFrFy
United States District Judge

December22, 2016
Charleston, South Carolina
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